
 

 

 -1- 

 

 SOUTH BROWARD DRAINAGE DISTRICT 

GOVERNING BOARD MEETING MINUTES 

 
JULY 30, 2015 

 

Present: 

Scott Hodges, Chairperson Kevin M. Hart, District Director 

James Ryan, Vice Chairperson    Douglas R. Bell, Legal Counsel 

Vicki Minnaugh, Treasurer    Freddy Fisikelli, SWR Vice Mayor 

Robert E. Goggin, IV, Secretary   Reina Muniz, Recording Secretary 

Alanna Mersinger, Commissioner   General Public: See Attached List   

Thomas Good, Commissioner 

              

Absent: 

 

Mercedes Santana-Woodall, Commissioner      

   

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 

01.   CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL/PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 

   Chair Hodges called the SBDD Board Meeting to order at 8:02 A.M., with Vice Chair Ryan, 

Commissioner Minnaugh, Commissioner Mersinger, Commissioner Good, and Commissioner 

Goggin present; followed by the Pledge of Allegiance.   

  

02.   PUBLIC COMMENT  

 

None.  

 

03.   APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 

Commissioner Goggin moved for approval of the minutes of the June 25th, 2015, South Broward 

Drainage District Board meeting.  Motion was seconded by Commissioner Minnaugh and carried 

unanimously by those present. 

 

04. DIRECTOR=S REPORT  

 

A. RE-INVESTMENT OF DISTRICT FUNDS  

   

District Director Hart stated that during the next two months there are several investment funds 

that are scheduled to mature as follows: 

 

1. Israel Bonds - $500,000   Maturity Date -    8/1/2015 

2. Stonegate Bank CD - $247,988  Maturity Date -    8/8/2015 

3. Landmark Bank CD - $247,414  Maturity Date -  8/14/2015 

4. Bank United CD - $102,261   Maturity Date –  9/26/2015 

 

He said that on June 30, 2015, the Finance and Investment Committee met to discuss the 

District’s options for re-investing the cash-on-hand that will be available upon the maturity of 



 

 

 -2- 

 

these funds.   The recommendation from the Finance and Investment Committee is to re-invest 

these funds in four new 12-month CDs at the highest available interest rate.  The value of the 

new CDs will be $247,500 each.   

 

There are no financial impacts to this Agenda Item.  A 12 month cash flow analysis by SBDD 

staff indicates that the District will have adequate cash-on-hand over the 12-month period of 

the new CDs. 

 

District Director Hart requested approval to re-invest the monies that will become available 

from four maturing SBDD investments over the two months by purchasing four new 12-month 

CDs in the amount of $247,500 each, at the highest available interest rates.  
 

Commissioner Minnaugh moved for approval of the reinvestment of District funds as 

recommended by the District Director.  Motion was seconded by Commissioner Goggin.   

 

Commissioner Mersinger stated that she believed the Board had previously decided not to re-

invest with Israeli bonds, which usually has the highest interest rate.  She asked District Director 

Hart if she was correct with that assumption.  District Director Hart replied no, that this was up 

for discussion this morning under this agenda item; and because the Israeli bonds were not 

insured through the U.S. banking system, that the recommendation by the Finance and 

Investment Committee was for the District to re-invest those funds in CD’s, and have all of the 

District’s investments insured.  Over the past two years there had been questions raised 

regarding the Israeli bonds, but no formal action has been taken by the Board.   

 

Commissioner Mersinger commented that the only way the District would not get their money 

back was if Israel were to go under.  District Director Hart agreed, and stated that basically, the 

District is relying on the good faith of the Israeli government.  He pointed out that although the 

interest rate is much higher on the Israeli bonds than for CDs, those bonds have a 3-year maturity 

period.  He said that if the District were to go with a longer maturity period for the CDs, the 

rates would be higher, but still not as high as the Israeli bonds.  He said that the District has 

been moving towards 12-month CD investments to ensure that if the cash were needed, that it 

would be available in a shorter time frame.  He said that is the approach that the District has 

been taking recently. 

 

Commissioner Mersinger stated that she does not see, in the foreseeable future, that Country 

(Israel) not existing, and that she is against pulling the money out. 

 

Commissioner Minnaugh explained that the District has a very strict list of banks that are 

approved by the State of Florida; and if the District did not have to follow that list, they could 

go to any bank and get a higher interest rate; but the District’s hands are tied and the guidelines 

specifically state that they have to be FDIC insured.  She stated that the District did contemplate 

going with a longer term; and projected ahead that it would probably be safe, but it was decided 

that it was better for the District to have cash readily available in the event of a storm, etc.  She 

said that the recommendation is in line with the guidelines that the District needs to be 

following.  

 

Commissioner Goggin thanked the Finance and Investment Committee for their hard work and 

research on this item.  He asked attorney Bell what his thought process was if the District 

decided to stay with the Israeli bonds.  Attorney Bell said that this would be a Board decision, 



 

 

 -3- 

 

and that as long as it was not specifically disapproved, he opined that it would be okay for the 

District to continue to invest in them.  Commissioner Goggin then asked if although this 

investment is outside of the guidelines, would the District still be able to keep the monies 

invested at a higher interest rate for our community.  Attorney Bell replied that this would be a 

Board decision based on the risk that the Board placed on investing in the Israeli bonds.    

 

Chair Hodges reiterated the sentiment on the good job that the Finance and Investment 

Committee has done.  The question was called and the motion was carried by a 5 to 1 vote; with 

Commissioner Mersinger opposed. 
 

A. OTHER 

 

 “Know the Flow” – District Director Hart informed the Board that he participated in a 

County program called “Know the Flow”.  He said that this is a three part series that they 

give to different organizations, and this one happened to be for the Pompano Beach Public 

Works Dept; and that he presented the section on drainage and stormwater management.  

He said that this was another outreach effort/partnership with Broward County, and that 

it went very well. 

 

 Rainfall Report – District Director Hart said that technically South Florida is in a drought 

based on the deficiency in rainfall.  South Florida is way below average for the rainy 

season.  He said that SBDD has gotten spotty rainfall off and on; and that SBDD’s levels 

are low; as a result, they are not moving any water, and it is making it a bit more difficult 

for staff to maintain the waters, when it comes to aquatic control and vegetation.  He said 

that at this time of year, the algae picks up, and that the rainfall usually helps control that 

a bit; besides that, the District is not seeing too many problems.   

 

Chair Hodges asked District Director Hart, how is Lake Okeechobee.  District Director 

Hart replied that the lake is not close to critical low levels, or the low levels that were 

experienced in the past.  That is a barometer for South Florida.  South Florida received 

some rain this past weekend, and the central part of the state received more rainfall.  The 

state has been releasing water from Lake Okeechobee over the last two years.  He said 

that they only release water when it reaches a certain level; and that the South Florida 

Water Management District (SFWMD) has a mandate, through the federal government 

(Army Corp of Engineers), that when the lake reaches a certain level, they have to release 

water; this causes a great deal of controversy because they release to the east, and to the 

west, and to sensitive estuaries; and it causes environmental impacts to those waterbodies.  

District Director Hart said that he does not believe SFWMD has been releasing any water 

this year; and that he has not seen where Lake Okeechobee has been down even close to 

where it was 4 or 5 years ago when South Florida was placed on additional restrictions on 

water use.  He said that from that respect it is good.  He also said that SBDD’s canal levels 

to the far west are higher than to the east, as a result seepage from the conservation areas.  

The last report he saw showed that the conservation areas may be a bit lower than in the 

recent past, but not at a critical stage, as far as elevations.  The biggest impact will be the 

deficiency in rainfall as South Florida moves into the dry season; if we don’t get any 

significant rain. 

 

  



 

 

 -4- 

 

05. CONVENED PUBLIC HEARING AT 8:15 A.M. RESOLUTION NO. 2015-04 – TENTATIVE 

BUDGET AND ASSESSMENT RATES FOR FISCAL YEAR 2015/2016 

 

District Chairperson presented the following: 

 

The name of the taxing District is South Broward Drainage District.   

 

The Proposed Taxes and Assessment Rates for fiscal year 2015-2016 are attached as Exhibit AA@ 
to District Resolution No. 2015-04. 

 

The Proposed Budget for fiscal year 2014/2015 is attached as Exhibit AA@ to the District 

Resolution No. 2015-04. 
 

Chair Hodges asked the Board if there were any questions or comments regarding the tentative taxes 

and assessment rates for fiscal year 2015/2016.  There were none. 

 

District Director Hart presented the proposed budget for fiscal year 2015/2016.  He indicated that 

the proposed budget for next fiscal year is $3,345,099.24 which represents a 4.69% decrease from 

the previous year.  He did not recommend any changes to the current assessment rates. All other 

revenues have been adjusted to reflect the projected income for 2015/2016. 

 

He said that the main reason for the decrease in the budget was the completion of the Basin 3 

Drainage Improvements during the 2014-2015 fiscal year and the corresponding decrease of the 

costs and revenues (under Appropriation of Fund Balance) for those improvements, which totaled 

$240,512.65.   

 

The current levels of District operations, maintenance, and repairs are projected to remain at or 

above the current level. Budgeted expenses for fiscal year 2015/2016 are consistent with 2014/2015 

expenses. 

 

District Director Hart explained the draft budget increases and decreases in detail to the Board, 

including the following specific line items: 

 

 “Salaries/Wages” have been increased slightly to account for a cost of living increase and merit 

raises. 

 “Engineering Fees/Special Projects/Consulting” costs have been increased to account for projected 

costs associated with the proposed Basin 8 Permit modification through the South Florida Water 

Management District. 

 “Legal Fees” have been decreased based on projected costs and historical costs over the past 3 

years. 

 “Commercial Property Package”, “General/Excess Liability”, and “Workers Compensation” 

Insurance expenses are lower based on projected costs for FY 2015/2016. 

 “Advertising” costs have been decreased slightly based upon projected costs. 

 “Maintenance Contracts” have been increased by $2,600 to allow for a monthly service fee for 

GPS to be placed in District vehicles and boats. 

  “Public Records” has been increased by $35,000 to allow the District to purchase new Records 

Management, E-Mail Management and E-Forms software that will allow the District staff to better 

manage their computer/e-mail record keeping and allow the District to utilize E-Forms for its 



 

 

 -5- 

 

residents and businesses.  He said that this software will serve a number of purposes; and that many 

agencies use a variation of this software to help manage their computer files.  He said that there 

are statutory requirements when it comes to record keeping for government agencies.  District 

Director Hart commented that this will be a benefit to SBDD; and that residents will have the 

ability to perform their permitting online, and will be able pay fees online as well. 

 “Fuel” costs are down slightly. 

 “Sanitation” costs are slightly higher to account for higher costs for the disposal of trash and debris 

at the county landfill. 

  “Facilities Repair, Replacement & Upgrades” costs are remaining the same for 2015/2016 based 

on projected costs. 

  “Herbicides/Aquatic Plant Management” costs are slightly lower due to continued efficiencies and 

projected costs for 2015/2016. 

 “Water Testing” has been increased to allow for increased water quality testing in advance of the 

Broward County Water Preserve Area project. 

 “Meetings, Seminars & Employee Development” has been decreased based on anticipated costs. 

 “Basin 3 Drainage Improvements” has been completed and will no longer be a separate line item 

on the General Operating budget. 

 “Equipment Purchases, Replacement & Upgrades costs have been increased for 2015/2016 to 

allow for the purchase of one new field truck; an upgraded automotive lift to allow for additional 

weight in order to perform maintenance on the District’s heavier vehicles; and miscellaneous 

equipment. 

 

Approval of Resolution No. 2015-04 will establish the tentative budget and assessment rates for the 

2015/2016 fiscal year.  

 

Commissioner Mersinger asked District Director Hart, if on the purchase of the software, will this 

cost anyone their job.  District Director Hart replied no, it will not. 

 

Commissioner Goggin asked District Director Hart, will there be training for the staff to help the 

public to work with the software, if needed.  District Director replied yes, that the price will include 

training; and once staff is trained, he feels that they will be capable of helping the public. 

 

Vice Chair Ryan commented that on herbicides and grass carp, it seems that the District has not 

spent what was budgeted this year (to date).  District Director Hart said that through the end of June, 

the District was well below their budget, and that at this time of year those costs are typically much 

higher; and that the Board should see that number increase significantly.  The District has already 

met and reviewed their last quarter projected expenses, and those numbers are expected to go up.  

He said that there are other improvements that are being done under that line item as well, that are 

directly related to aquatic maintenance.  He said that this was a credit to the staff and their 

efficiencies; that they are able to get the job done for less money than in the past.  Vice Chair Ryan 

agreed that they have done a great job.  He mentioned the weather pattern that was forecast at the 

beginning of the year; and was wondering if there was some sort of mechanism or program that 

could be used to forecast herbicide and the grass carp usage in anticipation of problems on the 

lakes/canals.  District Director Hart replied that he would discuss this concept with the District’s 

Operations Manager. 

 

The District Chairperson opened the public hearing.  There were no comments from the public. 

 

The District Chairperson closed public discussion. 



 

 

 -6- 

 

 

Commissioner Minnaugh moved for approval of Resolution 2015-04 as presented; which approves 

the tentative budget and assessment rates for fiscal year 2015/16.  Motion was seconded by 

Commissioner Goggin and was carried unanimously by those present. 

 

The Public Hearing was adjourned and the Regular SBDD Board Meeting was reconvened.  

 
06. ATTORNEY=S REPORT: 
 
 None. 
  
07. APPROVAL OF LEGAL FEES 
 
 Commissioner Goggin moved for approval of the legal bills.  Motion was seconded by 

Commissioner Minnaugh and it was carried unanimously.   
 
 District Director Hart expressed his gratitude to Attorney Bell for his assistance and for all of his 

help in working with him on SBDD’s assessments.     

  

08.   BOARD MEMBER’S QUESTIONS/COMMENTS 

 

Commissioner Mersinger commented on the drilling/fracking that is being proposed in the 

Everglades, and the fact that a proposed well site for oil exploration is very close to SBDD’s western 

border.  She said that the site is just off of the L-67A Canal and that when following the L-67A 

Canal, it eventually connects to Biscayne Bay.  She said if anything were to occur in those waters, 

it will go directly, or indirectly, into Biscayne Bay.  She said that as a group, we should be protecting 

the drainage and water quality, and she suggested that District Director Hart send everyone a copy 

of the map that shows where they are proposing to drill.  Commissioner Mersinger explained that 

according to the map, the proposed well is directly on that Canal (L-67A).   

 

District Director Hart gave a bit of history on this canal.  He said that it is located within the 

conservation area; west of the levy.  He said it is part of a series of canals that were put in place by 

the Army Corp. of Engineers (COE) during the last century.  This is part of the canal system that 

helped to drain the Everglades and the properties to the north.  In fact, they did such a good job that 

they are now spending quite a bit of money to change the flow and try to get back to the historical 

drainage patterns.  He said that these two canals are parallel to each other; they are side-by-side and 

intersect very close to the C-11; and that they go directly south to Everglades National Park and 

Biscayne Bay.   

 

Commissioner Mersinger said that as a caretaker of all this, she feels that it is incumbent upon us 

to at least prepare a Resolution opposing the proposed well site and oil drilling in the Everglades; 

and that the worst thing we could do was to do nothing.  The Board agreed with Commissioner 

Mersinger that this should be done, and that a Resolution should be prepared.  She commented that 

this could pump for 1 day or 20 years, and cause problems; and that our water supply is so tenuous 

to begin with, that the District should not allow anything that puts it in jeopardy.  She said that this 

is not a good thing in the bigger picture; that it may be good for the company, but not for the people; 

and she is here for the people. 

 

Commissioner Good commented that we all know that this is a threat to our drinking water supply.  

He said that there are some other things that may be of interest as well; such as the C-9 Impoundment 



 

 

 -7- 

 

Project and the fact that they (COE/SFWMD) will be blasting in order to build their containment 

canals.  He also mentioned that the Board had discussed the importance of preparing a “Water 

Quality Profile” in order to identify current conditions versus future conditions.  He did not know 

if that would be something relevant as part of the response by the District, in addition to the concerns 

on the drinking water supply.  He also stated that there is a potential for surface water quality 

contamination as a result of the activities that may take place.  He asked District Director Hart if 

there is such a thing as a “plume”.   

 

District Director Hart explained that there is such a thing.  He elaborated that a plume is basically 

an area of contaminated ground water that moves with the general flow of the ground water.  It’s 

very slow moving and it expands as well.  He said that if there was an issue out west and something 

were to happen with that well operation, then more than likely, it would create a plume.   

 

Commissioner Good asked if with the general movement of water from the Everglades to the east, 

how would a ground water plume move.  District Director Hart said that was a bit harder to project; 

that at that location, the movement of the surface water is really south, and that those two canals 

discharge right into Everglades National Park.  He said he thinks more likely it would move 

predominately south.  He opined that if there was an incident, he thinks the plume would expand in 

all directions, but it will expand further to the south and southeast because that is the general 

direction of groundwater flow.  It is hard to predict whether it would extend past US 27.  He said 

his guess would be “no” at this point in time; but that still does not mean that there would not be 

significant impacts to the area. 

 

Commissioner Good said that the reason he brought this up was because they are also discussing 

fracking; and when he hears that, he knows from Miami Dade County, when they were working on 

the Aquafer Storage & Recovery (ASR) wells, they had contamination when they were doing that; 

it came to the surface within their ground water.  He said that fracking is a very similar process; you 

are pressurizing underground geology, and the water or liquids flow passably through voids of 

resistance.  He is thinking that although you can pump those chemicals deep, they will find their 

way back up, and push themselves up into the ground water.  He said he is bringing that up only if 

it is relevant when a Resolution is prepared. 

 

Commissioner Goggin asked what relevance the depth to which they were proposing to drill had in 

relationship to deep well injections of wastewater that some cities are doing at those same levels 

(depths).  He feels that they are close to tying into those discharges, where they are proposing to 

pump; and it seems that all of these activities are tied together.  District Director Hart replied that 

the oil well drilling is a bit different than the deep well injections; he said that he’s not sure that 

there could be a connection between the two.  For the deep well injections, they are actually 

pumping into the ground water.  It’s very deep and they are disposing of wastewater effluent.  As 

far as the impact of that disposal to the aquafers above; to date, he has not seen or heard of any 

impacts; and those were all studied at great lengths.  What is proposed out west is actually a 

production well for oil and for potential oil resources.  There is not much information on the actual 

detail of production.  He said it’s a long process.  They will first do exploration, which is stage one 

to a longer, more detailed process.  Then, if they find a source they have to get the resource from 

the well to a refining location.   

 

Chair Hodges commented that he had concerns that in the bigger picture if they do an exploration 

and they do find it; who is to say they won’t drill a second, a third, or a fourth well; he’s just worried 

that we won’t be able to stop it once it starts. 

 



 

 

 -8- 

 

Vice Chair Ryan made a motion to create a Resolution from SBDD opposing the fracking operation 

to be conducted in the Everglades.  Motion was seconded by Commissioner Minnaugh and it was 

carried unanimously by those present. 

 

Commissioner Goggin asked District Director Hart if he had any suggestions on how they could 

deal with the homeless situation on the east end of the District, down by University Drive, where 

they are building shelters along the canal banks.  He wanted to know what should or shouldn’t be 

done.  District Director Hart replied that they should let the District know, and the District would 

then coordinate with law enforcement to try and get it corrected. 

         

09. MEETING DATE(S) 

 
A. Regular Board Meeting will be held on Thursday, August 27th at 8:00 a.m. 
B. The Next Regular Board Meeting will be held on Monday, September 14th at 8:00 a.m. with 

the Final Budget Hearing for 2015/2016 Fiscal Year to be held at 8:15 a.m. 
 

Adjournment at 8:55 A.M.  

 

Respectfully submitted,  

 

  

                                                                             

Robert E. Goggin IV, Secretary 

South Broward Drainage District 

 

/rim 














































